RECEIVED

10-09-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP001506-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANGELA L. STATEN

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment Of Conviction and from an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Jeffrey Wagner, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ERIN K. DEELEY Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084027

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 deeleye@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the disparity between the sentences imposed by the same court for Angela Staten and her co-defendant sisters in the same tax-fraud scheme render the court's sentence for Angela Staten harsh and excessive?

The circuit court denied Angela's postconviction motion for sentence modification.

2. Did the court erroneously exercise its discretion when it imposed a bifurcated prison sentence instead of probation on two counts because it felt it had already imposed "a sufficient amount" of extended supervision on the other three counts?

The circuit court denied the postconviction motion for sentence modification, or alternatively, resentencing.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument would be welcomed if it would be helpful to the court. This is a fact-specific case, and therefore publication is not warranted.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

<u>Investigation and Initial Charging</u>

In early 2015, the State charged three sisters – Angela, Tawanda, and Sharon Staten – for their roles in a large-scale tax fraud scheme involving fraudulent income tax filings and homestead credit claims from 2010-2012. (generally 1; 52:20-97; App. 136-61). The women were charged separately, and the complaints, with further details provided by the State at sentencing, detailed how each woman was implicated in the overarching scheme and how individual fraudulent filings were attributable to each defendant.

As to Tawanda and Sharon, Wisconsin Department of Revenue (WDOR) investigators found notebooks in each of their homes filled with hundreds of identities (names, social security numbers, etc.), debit cards containing fraudulent tax return funds, and computers that had accessed "various tax related websites." (52:29-30, 66-68). Recorded phone calls from the jail showed that Sharon obtained tax filer identities from her boyfriend/co-conspirator James Cross, and during the execution of a search warrant of Sharon's home, investigators found 58 prepaid debit cards issued with the names of people not residing there, along with notebooks and papers containing more than 300 personal identities. (52:20, 29-30, 53, 107; App. 145). Similarly, at Tawanda's

¹ The sisters will each be referred to by their first names within this brief to distinguish them from one another.

home, investigators found 24 debit cards and three notebooks full of hundreds of stolen identities. (52:66-78, 135; App. 172).

did find Investigators not the same sophisticated bookkeeping system or quantity of direct evidence as to Angela. (See generally 1 compared to 52:20-97). In Angela's case, the State relied on (1) calls Angela had with her incarcerated boyfriend/co-conspirator, Anthony Coleman, during which they discussed different inmate identities for filing false returns, only eight identities alleged, (2) notes in her purse that contained six prisoner identities and "various Foodshares ... cards in other persons' names, and handwritten notes of several persons' dates of birth and social security numbers," nine of which were linked to fraudulent filings, and (3) seven Wisconsin Department of Revenue (WDOR) letters found at Angela's home addressed to filers who did not live there. (See generally 1).

Investigators also circumstantially linked filings to the three sisters by way of handwriting samples or common denominators such as internet protocol (IP) addresses, home addresses, or employers. (*i.e.* 1:41- Count 31 in Angela's case was based only on that return having been filed using an IP address linked to Angela's home address.)

A total of \$234,390 in damages was alleged. (1:17, 52:28, 66). Angela was linked to "more than 225 fraudulent income tax returns and fraudulent homestead credit claims" with losses "far in excess of

\$10,000." (1:48). Sharon was linked to 300, with "losses in excess of \$50,000." (52:54). Tawanda was linked to 255 and a loss of \$89,298. (52:97). While these numbers fall short of the \$234,390 in losses and claimed "2,000 fraudulent income tax returns and homestead credit claims," there was an unknown number of additional people involved in the scheme and potentially contributing to the losses. (1:48; 52:5; 62:16; App. 116).

There were minimal allegations of actual cooperation amongst the sisters, and no allegations that the women were sharing profits. Specific counts from each complaint do not overlap between sisters i.e. no two sisters are charged with a count based on the same individual filer. (See generally 1; 52:21-97). Angela admitted to sharing three names with Sharon in 2010. (1:35, 48). Jail recordings capture Angela at one point saying that another sister "told her to keep [the returns] under a certain amount 'cause the IRS is getting strict," though it seems she was possibly speaking about another sister, Sheila. (1:20-21). Informants alleged that the sisters shared a common source who gave them identities of Mississippi inmates. (1:48). Finally, notebooks from Tawanda's and Sharon's homes had each other's fingerprints on them, but not Angela's prints. (52:53).

Angela was charged with 40 counts as follows:

Counts 1 and 2: Conspiracy to Commit Unauthorized Use of an Entity's Identifying Information or Documents as a Repeater, Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a).

Count 3: Theft by Fraud (Value Exceeding \$10,000) as Party to a Crime (PTAC) and a Repeater, Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(d) & (3)(c).

Counts 4-33: Unauthorized Use of an Entity's Identifying Information or Documents as PTAC and as a Repeater (Counts 4-33), Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a).

Counts 34-40: Fraudulent Claim for Income Tax Credit as PTAC and as a Repeater (Counts 34-40), Wis. Stat. § 71.83(2)(b)4.

(See generally 1). Counts 1-3 charged Angela for the overarching conspiracy. (1:1-2, 17). Counts 4-40 specific fraudulent filings charged allegedly attributable to her. (1:21-46). Angela had a felony conviction during the five-year period immediately preceding the commission of these offenses. increasing her exposure by four years on each count. (52: 1-17); Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b).

As for Tawanda and Sharon, in separate complaints, Counts 1-3 charged each for their roles in the tax fraud conspiracy as follows:

Counts 1-2: Conspiracy to Commit Unauthorized Use of an Entity's Identifying Information or Documents as a Repeater, Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a), and Conspiracy to Commit Fraudulent Claims for Credit as a Repeater, Wis. Stat. § 71.83(2)(b)(4).

Count 3: Theft by Fraud (Value Exceeding \$10,000) as Party to a Crime (PTAC) and a Repeater, Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(d) & (3)(c).

(52:20-21, 28, 56-57, 66). Then, like Angela, the remaining counts charged a series of filings specifically attributed to each woman. Sharon was charged with a total of 16 counts. (52:20-55). Tawanda was charged with a total of 28 counts. (52:56-97). Sharon and Tawanda were charged as repeaters as well, but the State alleged misdemeanor priors, exposing each to an additional two years on each count. (52:20-97).

Plea and Sentencing

All three cases were assigned to the Honorable Jeffrey Wagner, who ultimately sentenced the three women separately following their guilty pleas. Angela pled guilty to Counts 1-5 on January 19, 2016, three weeks before trial. (21:10; 61:1-2). The State agreed to recommend a total of 10 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision on Counts 1-3, followed by a consecutive 6 years of probation with an imposed and stayed 2 years of initial confinement and 2 years of extended supervision on both Counts 4 and 5. (61:3-4).

Sharon and Tawanda both waited until the morning of their respective trials to plead guilty. Each pled to Counts 1-3, Sharon on January 19, 2016 and Tawanda on February 29, 2016.² As in Angela's

² See CCAP records for State v. Sharon Staten, Milwaukee County Case 15CF872, State v. Tawanda Staten, Milwaukee County Case 15CF870. This Court may take judicial notice of CCAP entries. Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp., 2013 WI App 32, ¶ 5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522.

case, the State agreed to recommend that Sharon and Tawanda each serve 10 years of initial confinement.³ (52:104, 129; App. 166). All three women stipulated to joint and several restitution of \$202,520.⁴

Judge Wagner sentenced Angela first on February 9, 2016, followed by Sharon on February 25, 2016, and Tawanda on April 19, 2016. (1:1; 52:98, 126; App. 136, 163). At different sentencings for the three women, the State argued that the three sisters were involved equally, and that they were "part of a complicated tax fraud scheme." (52:105, 134; 62:5; App. 105, 143, 170). The State argued for equal culpability and said that its recommendation that each woman receive 10 years initial confinement

³ A chart which lays out the specifics of the State's recommendations and sentenced imposed for all three women is included at the end of this section.

⁴ The \$234,390 figure represented all losses the investigators believed were related to an overarching fraud scheme that the Staten sisters were a part of. According to investigators on the case, that number was modified for purposes of determining restitution to include only those returns that they thought could be circumstantially connected to one of the three women via common denominators between filings such as employers, home addresses, or IP addresses. Investigators were able to parse out large aggregations of the filings they specifically believed were attributable to Tawanda or Sharon because of the volume of evidence found directly linking those two to specific identities (i.e. via the notebooks). This same accumulation of data was not produced for Angela because investigators did not find the same volume of evidence in her case. (52:6).

would be "consistent with an evenhanded application of justice." (52:134-136; App. 171-73).

At each sentencing, the State and the court referred to the sisters collectively, stating "these defendants," (62:9; 52:108; App. 109, 146), "the sisters were" (52:156, App. 193), and "you and your sisters" (52:157; App. 194). No evidence was presented that Angela was in any way a "ring leader" or mastermind, or that she was any more culpable than her sisters in the tax fraud scheme. Nor did the sentencing court apportion different levels of blame responsibility, or comment on the individual prior records or the significance of the maximum exposure each faced. (see generally 62; 52:98-161; App. 101-98). When Tawanda sought to diminish her role as compared to her sisters, the court said "... certainly you're as responsible as your sisters," emphasizing that the three women were "jointly responsible," and said, "you're basically in the same position as the other two." (52:156-57; App. 193-94).

As for mitigation, the State at sentencing told the Court that Angela's guilty plea three weeks in advance of trial was mitigating, as it had "spar[ed] the witnesses and court system the burden of trial," as opposed to the other two sisters, who pled on the day of trial, requiring the State to fully prepare. (21:11; 52:108-109, App. 146-47).

All three women indicated issues with alcohol and substance abuse. (52:114, 147; 62:20; App. 152,

184, 120). All three women had a long-standing background of repeated thefts. (62:14; 21:4-5; 52:106, 137; App. 114, 144, 174). Both Angela and Tawanda had open cases at the time they were sentenced. (21:5; 52:138; App. 175). Additionally, all three sisters were engaged in other criminal activity during the time the tax fraud scheme was alleged to have occurred. (1:19; 52:39; See CCAP records for Waukesha Co. Case 13CF1426; App. 176).

In sentencing Angela, the court initially imposed a total of 12 years of initial confinement and 12 years of extended supervision on Counts 1-4, and a consecutive probation term with an imposed and stayed bifurcated imprisonment sentence on Count 5. (62:30-31; App. 130-31). Then before departing the bench, the court suddenly changed its mind:

You know what? After thinking about it for a second --- or since the sentencing has been going on, I don't think probation is really appropriate because she's on ES. So on that last count, on Count 5, the Court's going to strike that last sentence because she'll have a sufficient amount of ES time. So that Court's just going to make it four years; two years in, two years out.

(62:33; App. 133). Thus, under the court's sentence, Angela received a total of 14 years of initial confinement and 14 years of extended supervision and was deemed ineligible for the Substance Abuse Program (SAP) and Challenge Incarceration Program (CIP). (31:1-6; App. 202-08). This sentence exceeded

the State's 10-year upfront initial confinement recommendation by 40%. (62:30-33; App. 130-33).

As for the programming determination, the court said: "She's gone through a number of different programs based on her prior criminal convictions. I mean, why -- what is she going to learn now? She's habitual. What is she going to learn now when she hasn't learned in the past[?]" (62.32; App. 132).

In contrast, two weeks later at Sharon's followed State's sentencing, the court the recommendation, imposing the 10 years of upfront initial confinement requested, and found Sharon eligible for SAP. (52:121-23; App. 159-61). The sentencing court called the State's recommendation "reasonable ... as far as resolving this case." (52:121; App. 159). Similarly, two months later at Tawanda's sentencing, the court again followed the State's 10year confinement recommendation and found her eligible for SAP. (52:153-54, 158-59; App. 190-91, 196-97).

The following page contains a summary of the dispositions in all three cases: ⁵

⁵ The court's sentence on Counts 1 and 2 in Angela's and Sharon's cases originally included 4 years of extended supervision, but that amount was subsequently reduced to the statutory maximum of 3 years. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(d)(5); (30:1; see CCAP records for 15CF872, entry dated 4/6/2016). At Tawanda's sentencing, the State accordingly recommended the statutory maximum of 3 years extended supervision on Counts 1 and 2. (52:129; App. 166).

| | Angela | Sharon | Tawanda |
|---------------------------|--|---|--|
| State's Recommendation | Count 1: 4 IC, 4 ES Count 2: 4 IC, 4 ES Count 3: 2 IC, 2 E Count 4: 6 years probation, stayed and imposed 2 IC, 2 ES Count 5: 6 years probation, stayed and imposed 2 IC, 2 ES *All counts consecutive | Count 1: 4 IC, 4 ES Count 2: 4 IC, 4 ES Count 3: 2 IC, 2 ES *All counts consecutive | Count 1: 4 IC, 3 ES Count 2: 4 IC, 3 ES Count 3: 2 IC, 2 ES *All counts consecutive |
| | Total: 10 IC, 10 ES and 6 years consecutive probation with stayed and imposed 4 years initial confinement and 4 years extended supervision | Total: 10 IC, 10 ES | Total: 10 IC, 10 ES |
| Sentence Imposed | Count 1: 4 IC, 3 ES Count 2: 4 IC, 3 ES Count 3: 2 IC, 2 ES Count 4: 2 IC, 2 ES, Count 5: 2 IC, 2 ES, No SAP/CIP *All counts consecutive Total: 14 IC, 12 ES | Count 1: 4 IC, 3 ES Count 2: 4 IC, 3 ES Count 3: 2 IC, 2 ES SAP, NO CIP *All counts consecutive Total: 10 IC, 8 | Count 1: 4 IC, 3 ES Count 2: 4 IC, 3 ES Count 3: 2 IC, 2 ES SAP, NO CIP *All counts consecutive Total: 10 IC, 8 |
| | Total: 14 IC, 12 ES | Total : 10 IC, 8 | IC, |

<u>Postconviction Proceedings</u>

Angela filed a postconviction motion seeking sentence modification. (see generally 52). As grounds, she argued that the sentence disparity was arbitrary and rendered her own sentence unduly harsh. (52:8). The motion also requested sentence modification or resentencing based on the circuit court's arbitrary imposition of a bifurcated prison sentence after its initial imposition of a probation term on Counts 4 and 5. (52:14).

The motion with attachments was 161 pages. The circuit court denied the motion in its entirety the day after it was filed. (see generally 53; App. 199).

In denying the motion for sentence modification based on disparate sentences, the court relied on the number of counts to which Angela pled guilty, the fact that she had pending cases at the time of sentencing, and her increased exposure, as its basis for sentencing her to a longer prison term than her sisters. (53:2-3; App. 200-01).

In denying the motion for sentence modification or resentencing due to the court's changing its imposition of probation to a prison term on Counts 4 and 5, the court concluded that, "[t]he court perceives no erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion for the reasons set forth on the record." (53:3; App. 201)

⁶ Angela also argued that her sisters' sentences constituted a new factor justifying sentence modification. (52:8). That argument is not advanced on appeal.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The disparity between the sentence imposed on Angela Staten and her two codefendant sisters by the same court for the same tax fraud scheme is arbitrary and renders her sentence harsh and excessive. The court erred by denying the motion for sentence modification.

A. Standard of review.

"Equality of treatment under the Fourteenth [A]mendment in respect to sentencing does not destroy the individualization of sentencing to fit the individual," but it does require "substantially the same sentence for persons having substantially the same case histories." *Jung v. State*, 32 Wis. 2d 541, 553, 145 N.W.2d 684, 690 (1966). "[S]imilarly situated offenders should receive similar sentences," and a sentence disparity can support a finding of an unduly harsh sentence. *State v. Ralph*, 156 Wis. 2d 433, 438-39, 456 N.W.2d 657 (Ct. App. 1990), *citing* Wis. Adm. Code sec. SC 1.01(2)(d).

The burden is on defendant to show that a disparity in sentences between her and a codefendant is "arbitrary or based upon considerations not pertinent to proper sentencing." *State v. Perez*, 170 Wis. 2d 130, 144, 487 N.W.2d 630 (Ct. App. 1992); *see also Ocanas v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 187, 233 N.W.2d

457 (1975)(the court found that denial of equal protection occurs where the disparity is "arbitrary or based upon considerations not pertinent to proper sentencing discretion"). Disparity is "not improper if the individual sentences are based upon individual culpability and the need for rehabilitation." *State v. Toliver*, 187 Wis. 2d 346, 362, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994).

On appeal, review is limited to determining whether sentencing discretion was erroneously exercised. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197.

B. The circuit court arbitrarily imposed significantly more confinement time on Angela than on her similarly-situated sisters and arbitrarily deemed her ineligible for SAP.

Despite the State and the sentencing court's emphasis on equal culpability for all three sisters in this tax-fraud scheme, the trial court drastically exceeded the State's recommendation only in sentencing Angela. The court also granted Sharon and Tawanda SAP eligibility but denied this same opportunity for Angela. These disparities were arbitrary, rendering Angela's sentence harsh and excessive, and sentence modification is appropriate.

For purposes of sentencing, Angela, Sharon, and Tawanda Staten were similarly situated. Both the State and sentencing court emphasized equal culpability, and at no point did the sentencing court

apportion different levels of blame or responsibility on the sisters, and it specifically rejected Tawanda's attempt to minimize her culpability as related to her sisters, instead reiterating its view that "you're basically in the same position as the other two" and that the sisters were "jointly responsible." (see 52:156-57; App. 193-94).

In fact, the criminal complaints suggest that Angela may have been responsible for fewer fraudulent tax return filings and less overall monetary damage than her two sisters. Investigators found *hundreds* of names in multiple notebooks amongst the Tawanda's and Sharon's property. (52:29-30, 53, 55-78, 107, 135; App. 145, 172). In contrast, the State only alleged that investigators found seven envelopes in Angela's home, recordings of her discussing fewer than ten individuals on jail calls, and a purse that contained six prisoner Foodshares cards." identities. "various of "several" identities. handwritten notes (See generally 1). In addition, of a total of \$234,390 in damages originally alleged, the State alleged only that Angela was responsible for losses "far in excess of \$10,000," while Sharon was linked to losses in excess of \$50,000, and Tawanda \$89,298. (1:48; 52:54, 97).7

⁷ The record does not explain why the State charged more counts in Angela's case than it did her two sisters given the disparity in evidence found related to each woman. For example, according to Sharon's complaint, there were "three hundred income tax returns and fraudulent homestead (cont.)

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