RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-04-2018**

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP1506-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANGELA L. STATEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFERY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ABIGAIL C. S. POTTS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1060762

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The postconviction court properly denied Staten's motion for sentence modification because Staten was not similarly situated to her sisters.
 - A. A mere disparity in sentences among co-actors does not warrant modification.

Wisconsin recognizes the importance of "individualized sentencing." *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 48, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. Defendants do not receive the same punishment simply because they are convicted of the same offense. Rather, they are to be "sentenced according to the needs of the particular case as determined by the criminals' degree of culpability and upon the mode of rehabilitation that appears to be of greatest efficacy." *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 275, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

In order to establish that a sentencing disparity is improper, a defendant must show that the circuit court "based

its determination upon factors not proper in or irrelevant to sentencing, or was influenced by motives inconsistent with impartiality." Jung v. State, 32 Wis. 2d 541, 548, 145 N.W.2d 684 (1966). In other words, to show that a sentence is improperly disparate with that of a similarly-situated co-defendant, a defendant must establish "that the disparity in sentences was arbitrary or based on considerations not pertinent to proper sentencing." State v. Perez, 170 Wis. 2d 130, 487 N.W.2d 630 (Ct. App. 1992). A sentence given to a similarly-situated defendant is relevant, but not controlling. See State v. Giebel, 198 Wis. 2d 207, 220, 541 N.W.2d 815 (Ct. App. 1995). "A mere disparity between the sentences of co-defendants is not improper if the individual sentences are based upon individual culpability and the need for rehabilitation." State v. Toliver, 187 Wis. 2d 346, 362, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994).

B. Staten has not met her burden of showing that the postconviction court's decision was arbitrary or based on improper factors.

Staten's motion was properly denied because she has not shown that the disparity between her sentence and those of her sisters was arbitrary or based on improper considerations. In fact, the record shows that the postconviction court soundly exercised its discretion in finding that Staten's sentence was not arbitrarily disparate with those of her sisters, because they were not similarly situated based on their respective criminal histories and total prison exposure for the crimes at issue.

Staten was charged with 40 counts, while her sisters Sharon and Tawanda were charged with 16 and 28 counts, respectively. (R. 1); (Staten's Br. 6.) Staten pled guilty to five counts, while her sisters each only pled guilty to three counts. (R. 31; 53:2.) And the charges against Staten were enhanced because she was a repeater, having been

convicted of at least one felony during the five year period immediately preceding the commission of this offense. (R. 1; 31.)²

At sentencing, the judge considered Staten's extensive criminal history and noted that she had 20 previous convictions. (R. 62:14.) The court also noted that Staten was committing these crimes while incarcerated on home release for another crime. (R. 62:28.) And the court described the aggravating factors in this case as "enormous," and noted that they justify prison time. (R. 62:26.) Further, the sentencing transcript shows that the court felt that prison time was necessary to protect the community from Staten's ongoing criminal behavior, and the court did not feel that Staten would benefit from additional programming. (R. 62:27–29.)

Despite the difference in criminal history and overall prison exposure, Staten argues that she was similarly situated to her sisters, and that the criminal complaint suggests that she may have been responsible for fewer fraudulent returns and less overall monetary damages than her sisters. (Staten's Br. 15.) Staten notes that her sisters both had previous convictions and open cases at the time of sentencing in this case. (Staten's Br. 17.) But neither sister had as many previous convictions as Staten. (Staten's Br. 17; R. 62:14.) Additionally, it was Staten who was getting the names and personal information of inmates from her boyfriend, Coleman. (R. 1.) And, in the end, the State charged Staten with more crimes, thus increasing her overall prison exposure beyond that of her sisters. (R. 1.)

Staten also argues that the State and sentencing court both viewed all three sisters as similarly situated. (Staten's Br. 14–15.) But this argument is merely based on general

² Tawanda Staten also had a repeater enhancer, but it was for a misdemeanor, not a felony, resulting in a shorter enhancement. (*See* A-App. 163–97.)

comments made at Tawanda's sentencing hearing. (Staten's Br. 14–15.) And the fact that the sentencing court *later* told Tawanda that she was, "basically in the same position as the other two" does not satisfy Staten's burden to show that the sentencing court in her case was arbitrary or based her sentence on considerations not pertinent to proper sentencing. (A-App. 194.) The sentencing court based Staten's sentence on her criminal history and the overall number of counts she was charged with, and pled to, in this case. (R. 53:2; 62:26.)

Staten's argument suggests that the sentencing court was required to discuss her sisters' sentences when it ordered hers. But Staten was the first of the three sisters to be sentenced, so the court could not have known of a disparity in sentences, let alone justify it. (R. 62; see also A-App. 136–97.)

Finally, Staten argues that her sentence is unduly harsh given that there was more evidence against her sisters. (Staten's Br. 15.) Specifically, Staten claims that law enforcement found more notebooks of names in Sharon and Tawanda's custody. (Staten's Br. 5.) But while all three sisters were involved in the fraud, each participated in different ways. The complaint against Staten indicates that they not only found notes and other physical evidence of fraud in her but law enforcement actually possession, tracked fraudulently filed returns to her computer. (R. 1:17.) Staten was also the one who coordinated with Coleman to obtain identities. (R. 1:17.) And, based on this evidence, Staten was charged with many more counts than her sisters. (R. 1.)

Staten had more past convictions than her sisters, she was charged with more counts than her sisters in this case, and she ultimately pled guilty to more counts than her sisters. She was not similarly situated to her sisters and the court based its sentence on her own history and behavior. Based on the record, Staten cannot show that the sentencing court

erroneously its discretion in finding that its sentencing decision was not unduly harsh.

II. The sentencing court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in imposing bifurcated prison terms on counts four and five.

A. A circuit court has broad discretion at sentencing.

Circuit courts retain considerable discretion at sentencing. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 17. And appeals courts follow a strong, consistent policy against interfering in a trial court's sentencing discretion. Id. ¶ 18. A sentencing court is presumed to have acted reasonably in passing sentence, and the defendant has the burden of showing an unreasonable or unjustifiable basis in the record for the sentence. *Elias v. State*, 93 Wis. 2d 278, 281–82, 286 N.W.2d 559 (1980).

At sentencing, the court must consider and "identify the general objectives of greatest importance." *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶¶ 25, 41. The court must also "describe the facts relevant to these objectives" and "explain, in light of the facts of the case, why the particular component parts of the sentence imposed advance the specified objectives." *Id.* ¶ 42. But the trial court is not required to specify the weight it assigned each sentencing factor or how each factor translated to a certain number of years. *State v. Fisher*, 2005 WI App 175, ¶¶ 21–22, 285 Wis. 2d 433, 702 N.W.2d 56.

Stated differently, a sentencing court is only required to generally explain its exercise of discretion. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 49. The sentencing court does not need to explain "for instance, the difference between sentences of 15 and 17 years." Id. Rather, the exercise of discretion must be explained as to the sentence as a whole. Id.

Finally, while probation should be considered as the first alternative, it should not be the disposition if

"confinement is necessary to protect the public, the offender needs correctional treatment available only in confinement, or it would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the offense." Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 44.

B. The circuit court properly explained its reasoning for the sentences it imposed on counts four and five.

The sentencing court properly exercised its sentencing discretion when it deviated from the State's recommendation as to counts four and five. And simply because the sentencing court disagreed with the State as to whether probation was appropriate does not render its sentences arbitrary.

On counts four and five, the court sentenced Staten to bifurcated sentences of four years, with two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (R. 62:30–31.) The court initially stayed the bifurcated sentence on count five and placed Staten on three years of probation. (R. 62:30.) But the court then decided that the probation term on count five was not appropriate, and it imposed the four-year bifurcated sentence. (R. 62:33.) Staten is not entitled to any relief due to this change because the revised sentence was well explained and supported by the record.

First, the sentencing court was not required to explain and justify its mere change of course as to count five, it was only required to justify and explain the need for the final sentence on that count. *See Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 49. And the record shows that the court made it clear why probation was inappropriate in this case. The court expressly stated that, "quite frankly, the aggravating factors are so enormous in this case that it calls out for and cries for a prison sentence in the state institution." (R. 62:26.) And the court went on to explain that "[t]his is certainly a prison case. To do otherwise would depreciate the seriousness of the offense."

(R. 62:26.) The sentencing court also noted that Staten had "significant aggravating factors of having a number of prior convictions," including pending cases in other counties. (R. 62:28.) And the court explained that Staten needed prison time because she had a history of poor performance on probation. (R. 62:33.) The court noted that Staten committed these crimes while incarcerated on home release. (R. 62:28.) By imposing the sentence as to count five, all the court did was reject the State's recommendation for probation. And the court's reasoning for that decision is well supported by the record.

Staten's arguments on this issue are unpersuasive. She attempts to split this issue into two arguments, claiming that the sentence for count four was arbitrary because the court deviated from the State's recommendation, and claiming that the sentence for count five is arbitrary because the court changed its mind about imposing probation. (Staten's Br. 22–25.) But these two arguments really relate to the same claim, because when the sentencing court changed its mind about probation as to count five, it was really just making that sentence consistent with the sentence for count four, and rejecting probation as to both. (R. 62:30–35.) So, the relevant question is whether the sentencing court erroneously exercised its discretion when it deviated from the State's recommendation for probation. And, as discussed above, the sentencing court adequately justified both the sentence as a whole, and specifically why probation was inappropriate. (R. 62:26–28.)

Staten also tries to argue that the sentencing court was required to explain its decision specifically to impose a bifurcated sentence, in lieu of an imposed and stayed sentence with probation, as to counts four and five. But this argument ignores that fact that the sentencing court's exercise of discretion must only be explained as to the sentences as a whole. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 49. And while probation

should be considered as the first alternative, it should not be the disposition if "confinement is necessary to protect the public, the offender needs correctional treatment available only in confinement, or it would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the offense." *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 44. Here, the court made it clear that probation would depreciate the seriousness of the offense, Staten had a history of poor performance on probation, and the public needed protection from her criminality. (R. 62:25–28.)

Finally, Staten argues that the sentencing court's decision to reject probation is erroneous because its comments suggest that it rejected probation on counts four and five solely because the court felt Staten had a sufficient period of extended supervision. (Staten's Br. 23.) And Staten thinks that reasoning defies logic. But Staten's argument fails to acknowledge that the court spent a lot of time explaining why it thought incarceration was important. (R. 62:25–28; see, e.g. R. 62:26 ("This is certainly a prison case.")) And although the sentencing court did mention the periods of extended supervision when discussing the sentences for counts four and five, it also discussed numerous other factors, including protection of the public, her past performance on probation, and the seriousness of her offenses. (R. 62:25-28.) The trial court is not required to specify the weight it assigned each sentencing factor. Fisher, 285 Wis. 2d 433, ¶¶ 21–22. Here, the sentencing court talked through the primary sentencing objectives and relevant facts as it set forth the sentences for each count. And in the end, after discussing Staten's poor performance on probation and with programming, the court ultimately found that probation was not appropriate given the circumstances. (R. 62:33.)

Staten is not entitled to resentencing because the sentence as a whole was adequately justified in this case. Staten also argues for sentence modification based on her *Gallion* challenge, but modification is not a proper remedy

where a defendant alleges an erroneous exercise of discretion in violation of *Gallion*.

Rather, though no error occurred, if it did, resentencing would be the appropriate remedy. See, e.g. State v. Ziegler, 2006 WI App 49, ¶ 17, 289 Wis. 2d 594, 712 N.W.2d 76 (rejecting a request for resentencing based on Gallion challenge); State v. Mursal, 2013 WI App 125, ¶ 27, 351 Wis. 2d 180, 839 N.W.2d 173 ("because the trial court properly exercised its discretion in sentencing Mursal, we conclude that Mursal is not entitled to resentencing"). Staten's only support for sentence modification as a remedy for a Gallion violation is a citation to State v. Brown, 2006 WI 131, ¶ 41, 298 Wis. 2d 37, 725 N.W.2d 262. (Staten's Br. 21.)

Brown, however, dealt with reconfinement hearings and what, if any, factors a court should consider in making a reconfinement determination. Brown, 298 Wis. 2d 37, ¶ 41. Brown in no way held that sentence modification is an appropriate remedy for a court's failure to comport with Gallion at sentencing. And though this Court has recognized that it, at times, has incorrectly "mixed resentencing and sentencing modification" language, thereby "muddl[ing] the linguistic and legal waters," State v. Wood, 2007 WI App 190, $\P\P$ 9–10, 305 Wis. 2d 133, 738 N.W.2d 81, a failure to comport with Gallion is properly addressed through resentencing.

Lastly, without development, Staten also claims that this Court could remand for resentencing on only counts four and five. While the State maintains that Staten is not entitled to any relief, if the Court disagrees, the State believes that the case would need to be remanded for resentencing on all counts. Indeed, the circuit court imposed an overall scheme of consecutive prison sentences for Staten based on all of the five counts. Thus, if error occurred, the appropriate remedy would be resentencing on all counts. *See, e.g. State v. Sherman*, 2008 WI App 57, ¶ 11, 310 Wis. 2d 248, 750 N.W.2d 500 (concluding that resentencing would be unnecessary where court erred in

imposition of one sentence among *concurrent* sentences, because the "overall sentencing structure remained intact," and contrasting that situation with cases involving *consecutive* sentences where resentencing is appropriate because the change in one "disrupted" the overall "sentencing intent").

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief.